A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Kevin Grothaus was the appellant below. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Grothaus requests review of the decision entered by Division One 

of the Cour1 of Appeals in State v. Grothaus on August 1, 2016. 1 

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Court of Appeals err when it concluded petitioner's 

claim that RCW 43.43.7541 's mandatory DNA fee and RCW 7.68.035's 

mandatory Victim Penalty Assessment (VPA) violate substantive due 

process was not ripe for review? 

2. Did the Court of Appeals en when it concluded that 

petitioner failed to demonstrate a manifest error subject to review under 

RAP 2.5(a)(3)? 

3. Do RCW 43.43.7541 and RCW 7.68.035 violate 

substantive due process when applied to defendants who have not been 

found to have the likely ability to pay their mandatory fees? 

4. Given Washington's cunent legal financial obligation 

(LFO) enforcement scheme, do this Com1's holdings in State v. Cunl 

1 This decision is attached as Appendix A. The court granted a motion for 
reconsideration regarding the cost bill on September I, 2016. Appendix C. 

2 118 Wn.2d 911,829 P.2d 166 (1992). 
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and State v. Blank3 require that in order to satisfy constitutional due 

process, trial courts must conduct an ability-to-pay inquiry at the time the 

statutorily mandated LFOs are imposed? 

D. REASONS TO ACCEPT REVIEW 

Review is wananted under RAP 13.4(b)(l), because Division 

One's conclusion that Grothaus' substantive due process challenge was not 

ripe for review conflicts with this Comi's decision in State v. Blazina, 182 

Wn.2d 827, 832 n.l, 344 P.3d 680 (2015) (clarifying that a challenge to 

the trial court's authority to issue an LFO order is ripe for review 

regardless of whether the defendant faces incarceration for nonpayment). 

Review is warranted under RAP 13 .4(b )(2), because Division 

One's decision in Grothaus conflicts with Division Two's unpublished 

decision in State v. Graham,_ Wn. App. _, 2016 WL 3598554, which 

held the exact same substantive due process challenge as raised by 

Grothaus was ripe for review, citing Blazina for suppo1i.4 

Review is wananted under RAP 13.4(b)(3), because Grothaus' 

substantive due process challenge raises a significant question of law 

under U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV, § 1 and Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. The 

3 131 Wn.2d230,930P.2d 1213(1997). 

4 Division Two rejected Graham's substantive due process challenge on other grounds. 
Currently, there is a motion for reconsideration pending. Should that be denied, a 
petition for review will be forth coming. 
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case also raises the question of whether this Cour1's due process analysis 

in Blank and Cuny should be applied broadly by the Court of Appeals as a 

banier to judicial consideration of other types of due process challenges to 

LFO statutes. 

In this context, review is wan-anted under RAP 13.4(b)(l) because 

the case raises the question of whether Blank and Curry - when 

considered in the context of Washington's current LFO collection scheme 

- now require trial com1s to consider a defendant's likely ability to pay 

before imposing mandatory LFOs; and whether, as a result, Grothaus' case 

conflicts with those decisions. 

Finally, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because 

Grothaus' substantive due process challenge raises an issue this Court 

recognizes as one of substantial public interest. See, Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 

at 835 (noting there are "[n]ational and local cries for reform of broken 

LFO systems"). An LFO order imposes an immediate debt upon a 

defendant subjecting him to a myriad of penalties arising from enforced 

collection eff011s. The societal hardships created by the erroneous 

imposition of LFOs cannot be understated. 

A study by the Washington State Minority and Justice Commission 

concludes that for many people, erroneously imposed LFOs result in a 

honible chain of events: 

.., 
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... reducing income and worsening credit ratings, both of 
which make it more difficult to secure stable housing, 
hindering eff01ts to obtain employment, education, and 
occupational training, reducing eligibility for federal 
benefits, creating incentives to avoid work and/or hide from 
the authorities; ensnarling some in the criminal justice 
system; and making it more difficult to secure a certificate 
of discharge, which in turn prevents people from restoring 
their civil rights and applying to seal one's criminal record. 

The Assessment and Consequences of Legal Financial Obligations m 

Washington State, Washington State Minority and Justice Commission at 

4-5 (2008)5
; see also, Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 682-84 (acknowledging these 

hardships). These realities amply demonstrate that the judicial review of 

Washington Jaws authorizing the mandatory imposition of LFO debt is an 

issue of substantial public interest. 

It is pmticularly important that Grothaus' constitutional challenge 

to RCW 43.43.7541 be determined by this Court. As Division One's 

decision demonstrates, it is reluctant to address the merits of constitutional 

challenges to LFO statutes, and buttresses this reluctance by citing this 

Comt's decisions in Blazina, Blank, and Cmry. Appendix A. This Court 

should grant review to provide indigent defendants meaningful substantive 

review of constitutional challenges to Washington's LFO statutes. 

5 See: http://www.courts. wa.gov/committee/pdf/2008LFO _report.pdf 
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E. RELEVANT FACTS 

Grothaus is indigent and the trial court waived all discretionary 

fees and costs, but it imposed the VPA and DNA fee as mandated by law. 

CP 18, 74-80. 

On appeal, Grothaus asserted the Legislative mandate that trial 

courts impose a DNA fee and VP A on all defendants violates substantive 

due process when applied to those lacking the likely ability to pay. It is 

inational to attempt to effectively fund a DNA database or victim's 

services by imposing fees on someone who cannot pay. Brief of 

Appellant (BOA) at 9-22; Reply Brief of Appellant (RBOA) at 1-10. 

In response, the State claimed the issue was not ripe, was not 

subject to review under RAP 2.5, and was previously settled by this Court 

in Cuny and Blank. Brief of Respondent (BOR) at 13-18. Division One 

agreed, holding the issue was not ripe for review and was not reviewable 

as a manifest constitutional enor. Appendix A at 6-7 (citing State v. 

Shelton,_ Wn. App. _, _ P.3d _ (2016)).6 

6 In Grothaus' case, Division One did not fully analyze the issue in the decision but 
instead incorporated its recent ruling in State v. Shelton. Appendix A at 4-5. Because 
Shelton provides the substance of Division One's decision here, petitioner has attached a 
copy of the Shelton decision as Appendix 8 and will cite to it as is appropriate. 
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F. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW 

1. REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO SETTLE WHETHER A 
CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGE TO THE LFO 
STATUTES IS RIPE FOR REVIEW REGARDLESS OF 
WHETHER IMPRISONMENT IS AT STAKE FOR NON
PAYMENT. 

The Court of Appeals held Grothaus' constitutional challenge to 

RCW 43.43.7541 and 7.68.035 was not ripe for review. Appendix A at 6-

7. A similar argument was made in Blazina, however, and was 

categorically rejected by this Court. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 832, n.l. 

A claim is fit for judicial determination if the issues raised are 

primarily legal, do not require further factual development, and the 

challenged action is final. State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 751, 193 P.3d 

678 (2008). Additionally, when considering ripeness, reviewing courts 

must take into account the hardship to the parties of withholding court 

consideration. Id. Division One con·ectly decided the issue raised by 

Grothaus is primarily legal and the challenged action is final. Appendix B 

at 10. However, it inconectly concluded that Grothaus' constitutional 

claim requires further factual development. Id. 

In reaching its ripeness holding, Division One essentially reasons 

that until Grothaus is facing imprisonment for willful nonpayment, he 

cannot challenge RCW 43.43.7541 and RCW 7.68.035 as an 

unconstitutional regulatory act by the State. Appendix B at 9. It relies on 
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this Comi's decision in Curry. Id. However, while Curry does state that 

the constitutional principles raised there were only implicated if the 

defendant faced imprisonment due to his indigence, (Cuny, at 917-18), 

this holding does not apply here. 

Curry and Grothaus raised completely different constitutional 

challenges. In Curry, the defendants challenged the constitutionality of a 

mandatory LFO order on the ground that its future enforcement might 

operate unconstitutionally by permitting defendants to be imprisoned 

merely because they are unable to pay LFOs. 118 Wn.2d at 917. This is 

not the same due process issue raised by Grothaus. 

Rather than challenging the constitutionality of the LFO statutes 

based on the fundamental unfairness of its future enforcement potential, 

Grothaus asserts RCW 43.43.7541 and RCW 7.68.035 do not rationally 

serve any legitimate State interest when applied to those who cannot pay. 

In other words, while Cun-y asked this Court to consider whether the 

speculative future operation of a statute would be unconstitutional, 

Grothaus asks it to consider whether the statutes - as they operate at this 

moment - are unconstitutional. These are two completely different due 

process challenges. Hence, Division One's attempt to apply Curry as a 

batTier to review of Grothaus' constitutional challenge is fundamentally 

flawed. 

-7-



Once Grothaus' particular due process challenge is properly 

recognized, it becomes apparent that no fmther factual development is 

necessary for review. The trial court imposed the DNA fee pursuant to 

RCW 43.43.7541. It imposed the VPA pursuant to RCW 7.68.035. It 

never made a legitimate finding Grothaus has the ability - or likely future 

ability - to pay LFOs. As was the case in Blazina, the facts necessary to 

decide this issue (the statutory language and the sentencing record) are 

fully developed. Either the sentencing court applied statutes that are 

unconstitutional as applied to those who are not shown to have the ability 

to pay, or it did not. No further factual development is necessary. 

This Court should accept review and clarify that Qm:y does not 

create a ripeness barrier to other types of constitutional challenges to LFO 

statutes. Instead, Blazina's holding on ripeness controls. 

2. REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO CLARIFY THAT 
SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS CHALLENGES 
ASSERTING THESE MANDATORY LFO STATUTES 
SERVE NO RATIONAL STATE INTEREST IS 
SUBJECT TO REVIEW UNDER RAP 2.5(a)(3). 

Division One wrongly concluded Grothaus' substantive due 

process challenge "is not an error of constitutional magnitude subject to 

review under RAP 2.5(a)(3)." Appendix A at 4. This Court should grant 

review under RAP 13 .4(b )(3) to clarify that this type of constitutional 

challenge to mandatory LFO statutes is reviewable under RAP 2.5(a)(3). 

-8-



Under RAP 2.5(a)(3), generally the appellate comt "may refuse to 

review any claim of en-or which was not raised in the trial court." 

However, there are exceptions. One exception is that "a pmty may raise ... 

manifest error affecting a constitutional right" for the first time on appeal. 

RAP 2.5(a)(3). This exception recognizes that "[c]onstitutional euors are 

treated specially because they often result in serious injustice .... " State v. 

Lamar, 180 Wn.2d 576, 582, 327 P.3d 46, 49 (2014) (citation omitted). 

Grothaus raises a manifest constitutional error. BOA at 4-8. An 

error is "manifest" under RAP 2.5(a)(3), if it is a constitutional error that 

actually had practical and identifiable consequences on trial or sentencing. 

Id. at 583. Grothaus asserts it is a violation of substantive due process 

under both the state and federal constitutions for the Legislature to 

mandate that trial courts impose a DNA fee and VPA upon those not 

shown to have the ability - or likely future ability - to pay. Thus, 

Grothaus raises a constitutional error. 

Moreover, this en·or had a practical and identifiable consequence 

on Grothaus' sentence. Indeed, the fees were mandatorily imposed upon 

him pursuant to the challenged statute. Contrary to Division One's 

holding, this case meets the review criteria under RAP 2.5(a)(3). This 

Comt should grant review to clarify RAP 2.5(a)(3) should not be applied 
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as a barrier to review of constitutional challenges to LFO statutes. RAP 

13.4(b)(3). 

3. REVIEW IS WARRANTED BECAUSE WHETHER 
RCW 43.43.7541 AND RCW 7.68.035 ARE 
UNCONSTITUTIONAL IS AN ISSUE OF 
SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD 
BE DECIDED BY THIS COURT. 

Unless this Court issues a decision explicitly declaring RCW 

43.43.7541 and RCW 7.68.035 unconstitutional as applied, trial courts 

will continue on a daily basis to mandatorily impose the DNA fee and 

VP A on destitute defendants, which serves only to exacerbate their 

indigence and the resulting costs to society. The public has a substantial 

interest in avoiding these costs, and therefore review is warranted under 

RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

Both the Washington and United States Constitutions mandate that 

no person may be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process 

of law. U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV, § 1; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. "The 

due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment confers both procedural 

and substantive protections." Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals, 158 Wn.2d 

208,216, 143 P.3d 571 (2006) (citation omitted). 

"Substantive due process protects against arbitrary and capricious 

government action even when the decision to take action is pursuant to 

constitutionally adequate procedures." Id. at 218-19. It requires that 
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"deprivations of life, liberty, or property be substantively reasonable;" in 

other words, such deprivations are constitutionally infi1m if not "supported 

by some legitimate justification." Nielsen v. Washington State Dep't of 

Licensing, 177 Wn. App. 45, 52-53, 309 P.3d 1221(2013) (citing Russell 

W. Galloway, Jr., Basic Substantive Due Process Analysis, 26 U.S.F. 

L.Rev. 625, 625-26 (1992)). 

The level of review applied to a substantive due process challenge 

depends on the nature of the right affected. Johnson v. Washington Dep't 

of Fish & Wildlife, 175 Wn. App. 765, 775, 305 P.3d 1130 (2013). 

Where a fundamental right is not at issue, as is the case here, the rational 

basis standard applies. Nielsen, 177 Wn. App. at 53-54. To survive 

rational basis scrutiny, the regulation must be rationally related to a 

legitimate state interest. Id. 

Although the rational basis standard is a deferential one, it is not 

meaningless. Indeed, the United States Supreme Court has cautioned the 

rational basis test "is not a toothless one." Mathews v. DeCastro, 429 U.S. 

181, 185, 97 S.Ct. 431, 50 L.Ed.2d 389 (1976). As this Court has 

explained, "the court's role is to assure that even under this deferential 

standard of review the challenged legislation is constitutional." DeYoung 

v. Providence Med. Ctr .. 136 Wn.2d 136, 144, 960 P.2d 919 (1998) 

(determining that statute at issue did not survive rational basis scrutiny); 
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Nielsen, 177 Wn. App. at 61 (same). Statutes that do not rationally relate 

to a legitimate State interest must be struck down as unconstitutional 

under the substantive due process clause. Id. 

RCW 43.43.7541 mandates all felony defendants pay the DNA fee. 

On its face, this mandate appears to rationally serve the State's interest in 

funding the collection, analysis, and retention of a convicted offender's 

DNA profile. RCW 43.43.752-7541. However, as applied to defendants 

who lack the likely ability to pay, the mandatory imposition of this fee 

does not rationally serve this interest or any legitimate state interest. 

RCW 7.68.035 mandates that all convicted defendants pay a $500 

VPA. On its face, this serves the State's interest in funding 

"comprehensive programs to encourage and facilitate testimony by the 

victims of crimes and witnesses to crimes." RCW 7.68.035(4). Again, 

however, while this may be a legitimate interest, there is nothing 

reasonable about funding a victim's services program by imposing fees on 

those who do not have the ability- or likely future ability- to pay. 

First, imposing these fees on indigent persons does not rationally 

serve a legitimate financial interest. As this Court recently emphasized, 

"the state cannot collect money from defendants who cannot pay." 

Blazina, 182 Wn.2d at 837. When applied to such defendants, the fees are 

utterly pointless. There is no way to effectively fund victim services by 
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imposing fees the defendant cannot ever pay. Likewise, there is simply no 

reasonable way to effectively fund the DNA database by requiring 

imposition of fees on people who cru.mot pay them.7 

Second, as this Court recognizes, the State's interest in deten-ing 

crime via enforced LFOs is not rationally served. Id. This interest is 

instead undermined because imposing LFOs on indigent persons inhibits 

re-entry into society and "increase[s] the chances of recidivism." Id. at 

836-37. 

Third, the State's interest in uniform sentencing is not rationally 

served by imposing mandatory LFOs on persons lacking the ability to pay. 

This is because defendants who cannot pay are subject to lengthier 

involvement with the justice system and often pay considerably more LFO 

debt than defendants who can pay off the fees quickly. Id. at 836-37. 

Finally, the State's interest in enhancing offender accountability is 

not served. In order to foster accountability, a sentencing condition must 

7 The government acknowledged the fiscal futility of imposing a mandatory DNA fee 
upon indigent persons when, in 2009, the Legislature made the DNA collection fee 
mandatmy rather than discretionary, despite recognition it would do little to help fund the 
database: 

This bill will ... require all felony offenders to pay the full amount of the 
$100 fee, no longer allowing the court to reduce the fee for findings of 
undue hardship. However, the collection rate is expected to be very 
low for these cases, so it is assumed there will be no significant change 
to revenue for felony matters. 

Washington State Office of Financial Management, Multiple Agency Fiscal Note 
Summa1y. 2.S.H.B. 2713 (3/ 28/2008). 
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be something that is achievable. If it is not, the condition actually 

undermines efforts to hold a defendant accountable 

In sum, there is no rational basis for imposing mandatory DNA-

collection fees or VPAs on defendants who cannot pay. As such, RCW 

43.43.7541 and RCW 7.68.035 violate substantive due process as applied 

to these individuals. This Court should grant review to decide this 

significant public issue and to put an end to these fees being ordered on a 

daily basis without regard to a defendant's ability to pay. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

4. REVIEW IS WARRANTED BECAUSE THE DECISION 
IN GROTHAUS CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S 
DECISIONS IN CURRY AND BLANK 

Division One held that substantive due process challenges like 

Grothaus' are foreclosed by this Court's ruling in .QJ.rry_. Appendix B at 

9. However, when QJrry and its progeny Blank are considered in light of 

the realities of Washington's cun·ent LFO collection scheme, they actually 

support Grothaus' position that an ability-to-pay inquiry must occur at the 

time the DNA fee and VPA are imposed. Division One's holding, 

however, results in just the opposite - rote imposition of mandatory LFOs 

without concern for ability to pay. This Comi should grant review to 

clarify that Curry and Blank, when considered in the context of the 

modern day LFO collection scheme, require sentencing courts to conduct 
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an ability-to-pay inquiry before imposing any LFOs, including the DNA 

fee and VPA. 

Currently, Washington's laws provide for an elaborate and 

aggressive collections process that includes the immediate assessment of 

interest, enforced collections methods through a variety of different 

entities, and the authorization of numerous additional sanctions and 

penalties. It is a vicious cycle of penalties and sanctions that has 

devastating effects on the persons involved in the process and, often, their 

families. See, Alexes Harris et a!., Drawing Blood from Stones: Legal 

Debt and Social Inequality in the Contemporary United States, 115 Am. J. 

Soc. 1753, (20 I 0) (reviewing the LFO cycle in Washington and its 

damaging impact on those who do not have the ability to pay). 

Importantly, this cycle does not conform to the necessary constitutional 

safeguards established by this Court in Curry and Blank. 

In Blank, this Court held that "monetary assessments which are 

mandatory may be imposed against defendants without a per se 

constitutional violation." Blank, 131 Wn.2d at 240 (emphasis added). It 

reasoned that fundamental fairness concerns only arise if the govenm1ent 

seeks to enforce collection of the assessment and the defendant is unable, 

though no fault of his own, to comply. Id. at 241 (referring to CuJTy, 118 

Wn.2d at 917-18). 
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This Court also noted, however, that the constitutionality of 

Washington's LFO statutes was dependent on trial courts conducting an 

ability-to-pay inquiry at certain key times. It emphasized the following 

triggers for such an inquiry: 

* 

* 

* 

"The relevant time [to conduct an ability-to-pay 
inquiry] is the point of collection and when 
sanctions are sought for nonpayment." Id. at 242. 

"[I]f the State seeks to impose some additional 
penalty for failure to pay ... ability to pay must be 
considered at that point." I d. 

"[B]efore enforced collection or any sanction is 
imposed for nonpayment, there must be an inquiry 
into ability to pay." Id. 

Blank thus makes clear that in order for Washington's LFO system 

to pass constitutional muster, the courts must conduct an ability-to-pay 

inquiry: (1) before "enforced" collection; (2) prior to any additional 

"penalty" for nonpayment; and (3) before any other "sanction" for 

nonpayment is imposed. Id. Unfortunately, neither the Legislature nor the 

trial courts are cuiTently complying with Blank's directives. 

Given Washington's current LFO collection scheme, the only way 

to effectively comply with Blank's due process requirements is for 

sentencing courts to conduct a meaningful ability-to-pay inquiry at the 

time LFOs are imposed. Although Blank says that prior case law 

"suggests" that such an inquiry is not required at sentencing, this Court 
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simply was not confronted with the realities of the State's cunent 

collection scheme in that case. 

Today, Washington's LFO system consists of a complicated 

patchwork of enforced collection procedures and a myriad of penalties and 

sanctions before which there is no inability-to-pay inquiry. The reality is 

that onerous and relentless enforced collection procedures, sanctions, and 

penalties may begin long before an indigent person is faced with 

imprisonment for failure to pay. 

First, under RCW 10.82.090(1), LFOs accrue interest at a rate of 

12 percent- an astounding level given the historically low interests rates 

of the last several years. Blazina, 182 Wn. 2d at 836 (citing Travis 

Stearns, Legal Financial Obligations: Fulfilling the Promise of Gideon by 

Reducing the Burden, II Seattle J. Soc. Just. 963, 967 (2013). Interest on 

LFOs accrues from the date of judgment. RCW I 0.82.090. This 

mechanism of enforcement has been identified as particularly invidious 

because it further burdens people who do not have the ability to pay with 

mounting debt and ensnarls them in the criminal justice system for what 

might be decades. See Blazina, 182 at 836 (citation omitted) (explaining 

that on average, a person who pays $25 per month toward his or her LFOs 

will owe the State more 10 years after conviction than they did when the 

LFOs were initially assessed.). Yet, there is no requirement for the courts 
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to conduct an inquiry into ability to pay before interest is assessed upon 

unpaid mandatory LFOs. 

Washington law also authorizes an annual fee of up to $1 00 to go 

to the court clerk for any unpaid account. RCW 36.18.016 (29). There is 

no ability-to-pay inquiry before this additional sanction is imposed. 

Washington law permits courts to use private collection agencies 

or county collection services to actively enforce collection ofLFOs. RCW 

19.16.500; 36.18.190. There is nothing in the statutes that prohibits the 

courts from using collection services immediately after sentencing. Any 

penalties or additional fees these agencies decide to assess are paid by the 

defendant. Id. In fact, the statutes authorize that when accounts are 

assigned to such agencies, the court clerks may impose a transfer fee equal 

to "the full amount of the debt up to one hundred dollars per account." 

RCW 19.16.500. This means the DNA fee can be doubled by a clerk's 

decision to transfer a defendant's account to a collection service. Yet, 

there is no requirement that an ability-to-pay inquiry occur before court 

clerks utilize this mechanism of enforcement to collect mandatory LFOs. 

I d. 

Washington law also permits courts to order "payroll deduction." 

RCW 9.94A.760(3). This can be done immediately upon sentencing. 

RCW 9.94A.760(3). Beyond the actual deduction to cover the outstanding 
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LFO payments, employers are authorized to deduct other fees from the 

employee's earnings. RCW 9.94A.7604(4). This constitutes an enforced 

collection process with additional sanctions. Yet, there is no provision 

requiring an ability-to-pay inquiry occur before this collection mechanism 

is used. 

Additionally, Washington law permits garnishment of wages and 

wage assignments to effectuate payment of outstanding LFOs. RCW 

6.17.020; RCW 9.94A.7701; see also, Harris, supra, at 1778 (providing 

examples of wage garnishment as an enforcement mechanism used in 

Washington). As for gamishment, this enforced collection mechanism 

may begin immediately after the judgment is entered. RCW 6.17.020. 

Wage assignment is a collection mechanism that may be used within 30 

days of a defendant's failure to pay the monthly sum ordered. RCW 

9.94A.7701. Employers are permitted to charge an additional "processing 

fee" when this enforced collection method is used. RCW 9.94A.7705. 

Again, however, there are no provisions requiring courts to conduct an 

ability-to-pay inquily prior to wage garnishment and assignments. 

These examples show that under Washington's current LFO 

system, there are many instances where the Legislature provides for 

"enforced collection" and/or additional sanctions or penalties without first 

requiring an ability-to-pay inquiry. Some of these collection mechanisms 
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may be used immediately after the judgment is entered. Hence, if the 

constitutional requirements set forth in Curry and Blank are to be met 

under the current LFO collection scheme, trial courts must conduct an 

ability-to-pay inquiry when any LFOs are imposed. 

When Curry and Blank are appropriately considered within the 

context of Washington's current LFO collection scheme, they actually 

support the proposition that an ability-to-pay inquiry must occur at the 

time the triai comt imposes the DNA-collection fee or VPA. 

Unfortunately, just the opposite will happen if Division One's decision in 

Grothaus' case stands. As such, this Court should grant review and 

determine whether the decision in Grothaus conflicts with this Court's 

holdings in Blank and Cuny. RAP 13.4(b)(l). 

G. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, this Court should grant review. 
. ~ $ ef -k 1'\{, ~--v- \")'/\ J 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTOW' :;~ .. ~ 

DIVISION ONE 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

v. 

KEVIN LEE GROTHAUS, 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Appellant. ) 
--------------~~-------

No. 73562-4-1 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

FILED: August 1, 2016 

SCHINDLER, J.- A jury convicted Kevin Lee Grothaus of trafficking in stolen 

property in the first degree and theft in the second degree. Grothaus argues improper 

opinion testimony violated his constitutional right to a fair trial. Grothaus also 

challenges imposition of the mandatory victim penalty assessment under RCW 7.68.035 

and the mandatory DNA 1 fee under RCW 43.43.7541. We affirm the conviction and 

entry of the judgment and sentence. 

Grothaus worked as a carpenter and owned a carpentry business. His neighbor 

Joe Myers owned a construction company. 

In November 2012, Grothaus asked Myers to hire him as a carpenter. Myers 

agreed to hire Grothaus as an hourly wage employee. Myers provided Grothaus with a 

company truck, a cell phone, and a number of tools including air compressors, nail 

1 Deoxyribonucleic acid. 
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guns, sanders, drills, saws, and ladders. Between December 2012 and March 2013, 

Grothaus pawned a number of Myers' tools as collateral for the loans he obtained. 

Myers frequently visited the jobsites where Grothaus worked. Myers noticed 

Grothaus was sometimes not present. Myers also noticed Grothaus did not have all of 

the tools that Myers had provided. When asked, Grothaus told Myers the missing tools 

were at his father's house. 

On March 5, 2013, Myers fired Grothaus. Myers told Grothaus to return the 

company truck and "make sure all the tools are in the truck." Grothaus returned the 

truck but "a lot" of the tools were missing. Myers wrote Grothaus a letter identifying the 

missing tools and demanded that he return the tools. 

In a letter to Myers, Grothaus promised to return the tools the next week but did 

not do so. Myers contacted the police. 

Snohomish County Sheriff's Office Detective Stephen Clinko located a number of 

the missing tools in pawnshops. Specifically, three pawnshops in Everett and one in 

Marysville. Detective Clinko recovered 16 tools Grothaus pawned between December 

12, 2012 and March 2, 2013 to secure loans totaling $1,190. Grothaus admitted he did