I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The State of Washington, respondent and cross-petitioner, 

seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated In part II. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

In an order filed September 1, 2016, the Court of Appeals 

granted reconsideration and denied the State's request for costs. A 

copy of this order is attached as Appendix A. A copy of the original 

Court of Appeals opinion is attached as Appendix B. 

Ill. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The defendant (petitioner and cross-respondent), Kevin 

Grothaus, was found guilty by a jury of first degree trafficking in 

stolen property and second degree theft. CP 27-28. He appealed 

this conviction. He claimed that he was denied a fair trial by a 

witness's violation of an order in limine. He also challenged the trial 

court's imposition of a $500 victim penalty assessment and a $100 

DNA fee. The Court of Appeals rejected these claims. It affirmed 

the judgment and sentence In an opinion filed August 1, 2016. 

The State filed a cost bill seeking $4,378.84. The 

overwhelming majority of this amount ($4,286.55) represented 

payments made by the Appellate Indigent Defense Fund on the 

defendant's behalf. Most of this represented the defendant's 
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attorney fees ($2,997.00) and the costs of preparing the transcript 

($1,241.35). 

The defendant filed a motion for reconsideration and an 

objection to the cost bill. The sole basis for the objection was that 

the defendant was "determined to be indigent for purposes of this 

appeal." In response, the State pointed out that the defendant had 

been sentenced to only 90 days' confinement. 1 CP 16. He has a 

marketable skill and Is known as "one of the best" framers in the 

construction industry. 3/9/15 RP 61. In his affidavit for an order of 

Indigence, he said that he had $2,000 In stocks, bonds, or notes. 2 

CP78. 

The Court of Appeals granted reconsideration and denied 

costs. The court's order says that the panel "considered the motion 

for reconsideration and objection, the State's response, and the 

nonexclusive factors in State v. Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. 380, 367 

P.3d 612 (2016)." The opinion contains no explanation of how 

those factors were applied. 

The defendant has .petitioned for review of the portion of the 

Court of Appeals decision that affirmed the imposition of $600 in 

legal financial obligations. The State now cross-petitions for review 
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of the portion of the amended decision that denies an award of 

costs. 

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

RCW 10.73.160 allows appellate courts to require convicted 

offenders to repay the cost of their indigent defense. Should such 

repayment be denied on the basis that the offender is Indigent? 

V. ARGUMENT 

THIS COURT SHOULD ESTABLISH STANDARDS TO GOVERN 
AWARDS OF APPELLATE COSTS. 

This case Involves application of RCW 10.73.160.1 That 

statute allows appellate costs to "require an adult offender 

convicted of an offense to pay appellate costs." RCW 1 0. 73.160( 1 ). 

These costs "include[e] recoupment of fees for court-appointed 

counsel." RCW 10.73.160(3). 

This court upheld the constitutionality of RCW 10.73.160 In 

State v. Blank, 131 Wn.2d 230, 930 P.2d 1213 {1997). The court 

held that it was not necessary to determine the defendant's ability 

to pay before imposing appellate costs. It pointed out that "it is 

nearly impossible to predict ability to pay over a period of 1 0 years 

or longer." Rather, the issue of inability to pay is properly resolved 

via motion to remit costs under RCW 10.73.160{4). fd. at 242; see 
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City of Richland v. Wakefield, no. 92594-1 (9/22/16) (discussing 

standards for remission of costs). This court subsequently 

recognized that costs are discretionary with the appellate court. 

State v. Nolan, 141 Wn.2d 620, 628, 8 P.3d 300 {2000}. In 

accordance with these decisions, appellate courts routinely 

awarded costs for around 20 years. 

In 2015, this court decided State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 

344 P .3d 680 (2015). That decision involved a different statute 

dealing with awards of trial costs, RCW 10.01.160. That statute 

precludes courts from imposing costs "unless the defendant Is or 

will be able to pay them." RCW 1 0.01.160(3). The court held that 

this statutory provision Is mandatory. As already pointed out, 

however, RCW 10.73.160 contains no comparable provision. 

Nonetheless, after Blazina defendants began regularly 

challenging all kinds of legal financial obligations. In January, 2016, 

Division One of the Court of Appeals announced that it would 

exercise discretion In awarding costs. •Ability to pay is certainly an 

important factor that may be considered under RCW 10. 73.160, but 

it is not necessarily the only relevant factor, nor Is it necessarily an 

1 The full text of that statute is attached as Appendix C. 
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Indispensable factor." State v. Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. 380, 389, 367 

P.3d 612, review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1034, 377 P.3d 733 (2016). 

Since this decision, the award of costs In Division One has 

become largely unpredictable. In most cases, the court denies the 

State any award of costs. In a few, it grants them. Usually this Is 

without explanation. When the court has provided an explanation, it 

has focused on the defendant's ability to pay. 

For example, the Court granted costs in State v. Caver, no. 

73761-9-1 (9/6/16). Because the defendant was only 53 years old 

and was in jail for only 90 days, the court found a "realistic 

possibility" that he would be able to pay costs In the future. ld.1[ 28. 

Yet In the present case, the court denied the Imposition of costs 

against a defendant who was sentenced to 90 days' confinement 

and has the prospect of lucrative employment. 

The court denied costs in an unpublished opinion in State v. 

Howard, no. 73822-4-1 (9/26/16). The defendant there was 22 years 

old, and the trial court found that she would probably be able to get 

a paying job In prison. The Court of Appeals was nonetheless not 

persuaded that "imposing a debt of thousands of dollars upon 

Howard would be a productive exercise of our discretion." The court 

likewise denied costs in an unpublished opinion In State v. 
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Hernandez, no. 73341-9-1 (7/25/16). The only explanation was that 

the defendant had been found Indigent by the trial court, and there 

was no finding that his financial condition was likely to Improve. 

These cases Illustrate the need for standards governing the 

exercise of appellate court discretion. "Without governing standards 

or principles, [discretionary] provisions threaten to condone judicial 

'whim' or predilection." Kirtsaeng v. John Wiley & Sons. Inc.,_ 

U.S. _, 136 S.Ct. 1979, 1986, 195 L.Ed.2d 368 (2016). The 

varying decisions of the Court of Appeals create an appearance 

that the decisions are based on whim or predilection, rather than 

any uniform application of rules of law. 

To the extent that the Court of Appeals has relied solely on 

defendants' indigence, it has created a "Catch-22." In the novel of 

that title, an airman could be removed from flight duty for mental 

illness, but only on his own request - and making the request 

proved that he wasn't mentally ill. See State v. Frederick, 100 

Wn.2d 550, 558 n. 3, 674 P.2d 136 (1983), quoting J. Heller, Catch-

22 ( 1961 ). Similarly, under the Court of Appeals' analysis, an 

indigent defendant can be required to recoup the costs of his 

appeal - but only if he isn't Indigent. This analysis effectively 

negates a constitutionally-valid statute. 
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In Blank, this court recognized the near-impossibility of 

predicting a defendant's future ability to pay appellate costs. Blank, 

131 Wn.2d at 242. 930 P.2d 1213 (1997}. Yet Division One is now 

regularly denying costs based on precisely such a prediction. This 

decision conflicts with Blank. The unpredictable and seemingly 

arbitrary decisions as to costs create an Issue of substantial public 

interest. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1} and (4). 

VI. CONCLUSION 

This court should grant review. It should overturn the portion 

of the Court of Appeals decision that denies costs.